TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Information Technologies

> Karin Voodla 204723IVGM

# DEFINING DIGITAL DIPLOMACY FOR ESTONIA

Master's thesis

Supervisor: Eric Blake Jackson PhD Candidate

Tallinn 2022

TALLINNA TEHNIKAÜLIKOOL Infotehnoloogia teaduskond

> Karin Voodla 204732IVGM

# EESTI DIGIDIPLOMAATIA DEFINEERIMINE

Magistritöö

Juhendaja: Eric Blake Jackson Doktorant

# Author's declaration of originality

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis. All the used materials, references to the literature and the work of others have been referred to. This thesis has not been presented for examination anywhere else.

Author: Karin Voodla

16.12.2022

## Abstract

This thesis aims to address the issue of digital technologies impacting foreign policy and how this has shaped the concept of digital diplomacy. It will give an overview of different theoretical approaches, as well as compare digital diplomacy to cyber diplomacy. Moreover, this paper will try to define digital diplomacy for the context of one country – Estonia, a country that is highly digitalised and seen as a role model. A case study methodology is used to explore the Estonian example. The data is collected from semistructured interviews with experts and from document analyses. The research uses the data triangulation methodology for making adequate and well-justified conclusions. Based on the research results and theoretical framework, recommendations will be provided for policymakers for improving Estonian digital diplomacy efforts. Furthermore, a potential definition of digital diplomacy will be proposed for Estonia.

This thesis is written in English and is 43 pages long, including 6 chapters, 2 figures and 1 table.

# List of abbreviations and terms

ICT	Information and Communications Technology
EEAS	European External Action Service
EU	European Union
US	The United States of America
МКМ	The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications of Estonia
DESI	Digital Economy and Society Index
AI	Artificial Intelligence
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
ECOWAS	Economic Community of West African States
SADC	Southern African Development Community
ITU	International Telecommunication Union
UN	United Nations

# Table of contents

1 Introduction
1.1 Problem Statement
1.2 Research Objectives and Research Questions
1.3 Structure of the Thesis
2 Theoretical Overview
2.1 Technology in Foreign Policy14
2.2 Defining Digital Diplomacy17
3 Research Methodology21
3.1 Case Study
3.2 Data Triangulation22
3.3 Interview Overview
4 Results
4.1 Overview of Key Strategies
4.1.1 Estonian Foreign Policy Strategy 203027
4.1.2 Estonia's Digital Agenda 203031
4.2 Thematic Analysis of Interviews
5 Discussion and Recommendations
6 Conclusions and future work
References
Appendix 1 – Non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation
thesis
Appendix 2 – Interview Questions

# List of figures

Figure 1.	Garcia's theory of defining technology in diplomacy	.20
Figure 2.	Thematic analysis	.37

# List of tables

Table 1. Phases of thematic analysis (Source: Braun and Clarke, 2006). ......23

## **1** Introduction

After the world entered the digital era, international relations have gotten another perspective to work with. It is not only about the use of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in people's daily lives and how multiple tools can support processes and decision-making both in personal and professional life. It has become more interlinked to different spheres of the society and having an impact, whether on a larger or a smaller scale. For example, how do we change the national policies to meet the needs of e-commerce, which offers the possibility to expand to numerous markets for companies, as well as offering increased selection of goods for the customers to purchase? And assuming these goods are electronic devices used for educational purposes, we bring in other areas to consider, such as the education system, questions regarding standardisation of these devices and even healthcare to evaluate whether these gadgets influence children's well-being. More accessibility and connectivity enhance globalisation, therefore making these matters part of the 'global questions' to deal with [1]. As we keep on getting more connected and interoperable, we also need to understand that the relevant discussions and coordination must have a global approach. Especially due to the fact that the level of development in countries is not equal and incautious decisions can lead to unexpected outcomes, e.g. increasing the digital divide rather than helping to create space for effectiveness [2].

Technology and digital innovations have become a geopolitical issue [3]. Technological innovation in essence is not new, but the increased interdependence on other actors and areas influenced by it, has changed the pace and importance of digital development. Furthermore, it's not only the tools that are being created, but the way they are being used and for what purposes. The use of technology for authoritarian and oppressive purposes have become a valid issue as we see disinformation spreading actively, restrictions imposed to limit access to social media channels, mass surveillance of citizens, increased cyberattacks against nations' websites and many more [3]. The lack of clarity and discord on relevant definitions, principles and values, are adding more complexity to this horizontal topic [4]. Moreover, we frequently talk about how technologies are influencing

our daily lives and how the world is changing because of that [5]. Therefore, it is important to realise both the risks and the opportunities that technology and new developments have on our society, as well as to understand how it is changing the geopolitical environment.

## **1.1 Problem Statement**

Past couple of years have proven how a myriad of incidents and decisions can disturb the world order, creating more chaos to an already rapidly changing environment. In 2020, the world was hit by the COVID-19 pandemic, which caused losses of human lives, heavy pressure on healthcare systems, inability to access essential social services and education [6]. These are of course only some of the outcomes, as the pandemic didn't leave anyone or anything untouched. Just as the world started to cope with the afterwaves, a major armed conflict took place on the 24<sup>th</sup> of February 2022 [7]. Russia attacked Ukraine, claiming to 'demilitarise and de-Natzify' Ukraine and its citizens [7]. The rest of the world decided to not stand aside and take joint actions to stop the aggression [8]. This brought up new geopolitical tensions and countries' were redefining their priorities, being supportive towards Ukraine, but still keeping in mind their own national interests [9].

International relations are not sculpted only during turbulence times, but it's the everyday decisions and constantly changing environment that builds the way. Digital innovation and new technologies have expedited the changes and digitalisation has become a crucial part of the global (but also on a national level) development story. The world has realised that digitalisation of services or processes and developing new technologies for users is not the only way the world is influenced by digital innovation, nor is it a standalone topic [10]. It has become clear, that digitalisation and the use of digital tools have changed our governance models and impacted several areas in addition to ICT, such as healthcare, economy, education etc. Technological advancements have brought many benefits, but also several challenges. Given the speed, scale and the global nature of digital developments, it is clear that discussions and decisions on a global level will shape our future and how our societies work with the help of digital tools.

Estonia has become a role model of digitalisation across the globe [11], [12], having 99% of its public services accessible online [13]. E-Tax, I-voting, e-Prescription are just few of the examples of digital public services, that a citizen can use online [12]. In addition

to having a well-developed digital society, Estonia has been sharing its digital transformation experience with many others across the globe [11] and has therefore become an inspiration for several countries, such as Barbados, Aruba, Ukraine, Kyrgyzstan and others [14]. In order to keep moving forward, satisfying citizens and businesses, and improving the society as a whole, Estonia has understood the importance of international cooperation, specially the importance of digital cooperation [15]. It does not only help to raise awareness and bring attention to the benefits of digitalisation, but it also helps to solve existing problems on a practical level, as many countries and organisations are trying to tackle similar issues [16]. Having a strategic approach can help to direct resources to the right place and to use the tools wisely [16], [17]. Reusability of existing digital tools and services is one of the solutions to speed up the digitalisation process and close the digital divides that the current world is still facing [18]. Understanding these issues that need attention and action on a global level, it is clear why technology and digitalisation have become topics on its own in the foreign policy [10], [19]. It is necessary to deal with both the risks and the opportunities as these go hand in hand [19], [20]. Therefore, the strategic way of thinking about technology and digitalisation in the international for a is not only coming from the possibilities to be more efficient, but there is actually a need for it, too.

Technologies are not things per se anymore and impact other areas of life horizontally and globally, which is why it is important to have a strategic approach to digitalisation, innovation, and to the influence it brings. In order to be competitive in this fast-evolving world, just like the others, Estonia needs to map its strengths and weaknesses to be able to position itself in the global arena. As well as to constantly analyse the changing environment, realising the threats and the opportunities, making technology work for the country, not vice versa. As described previously, Estonia is a highly digitised country that is a role model for many others. Still, it hasn't yet created its digital diplomacy strategy, which would pinpoint the focus regions and topics it would prioritise for digital affairs in the foreign politics. Understanding the scale and speed of digital developments happening, it is crucial to develop responses to occurring challenges. Also, to seize the moments and reap the benefits of the ongoing global digital transformation. Therefore, Estonia should look how to develop its own digital diplomacy strategy; find and phrase the priority topics; and choose the international initiatives it needs to be part of to support its efforts in the global arena.

## **1.2 Research Objectives and Research Questions**

To understand, how could Estonia fill this gap and have a focused digital diplomacy strategy, it is important to firstly define what does digital diplomacy represent for Estonia. This thesis seeks to find an answer to this question and to provide a definition based on research. In addition, the goal is to provide suggestions for policymakers for shaping Estonia's digital diplomacy. Therefore, to achieve these objectives, the following research questions and sub-questions were formed:

• RQ1: What is the present state of affairs in Estonia for conducting digital diplomacy?

SQ1: What are the main characteristics of Estonia's current environment for conducting digital diplomacy?

• RQ2: How to define digital diplomacy in the context of Estonia?

SQ1: What is the difference between cyber diplomacy and digital diplomacy?

- RQ3: What recommendations can be given for shaping Estonia's digital diplomacy?
  - SQ1: What policy priorities should Estonian digital diplomacy focus on?
  - SQ2: What international organisations/initiatives should Estonia consider for its digital diplomacy?
  - SQ3: Which countries/regions should Estonia focus on for its digital diplomacy strategy?

Formulated sub-questions act as guidance and give input for answering the main research questions. The expected outcome of the research was to provide the reader with a possible definition of digital diplomacy, that fits for Estonia. Taking into consideration the research conducted and the data that was collected during the process, the author will also give recommendations for future work.

#### **1.3 Structure of the Thesis**

This thesis has 6 main chapters and 4 of them with subchapters. The first chapter gives and introduction to the topic and to the thesis itself. It briefly introduces how ICT is an inseparable part of our lives and how it has now entered the discussions of foreign policy. The first subsection presents the problem this thesis is trying to solve through research. The second subsection of the first chapter lists the research questions and sub-questions that help to achieve the aim of this paper. The current, third subsection gives an overview of the thesis' structure. The **second chapter** dives into the theoretical background that is necessary to understand for this topic. The first subsection of that chapter talks about technologies and their role in foreign policy, finishing by introducing diplomacy and its importance. After that, the second subsection presents different ways digital diplomacy has been tried to define and provides the reader with similar definitions that are relevant for understanding the characteristics of digital diplomacy. The **third chapter** gives an overview of the research methodology used for this thesis. The first subsection presents the case study methodology and why it was chosen for this paper. The second subsection introduces the data triangulation method and how it helps to achieve the expected outcomes of the research. The third subsection presents one of the data collection methods, interviewing, by giving an overview of the collection process for this work. The fourth main chapter will show the results of the research. First subsection commences with the results of document analysis research method that was used for this thesis, which is divided into two smaller sections as to introduce two of the analysed documents separately. This is followed by another subsection of the main chapter, that presents the results of a thematic analysis that was conducted with the outcomes of interviews. The fifth chapter discusses the results of the research and proposes a definition of digital diplomacy for the Estonian context, as well as policy recommendations for shaping Estonia's digital diplomacy strategy. It also mentions the limitations of this research, which can be solved with further studies. The sixth chapter summarises the findings of the research and also presents recommendations for future work. This document also has appendices which are added to the end of the paper.

## 2 Theoretical Overview

This chapter intends to offer an insight to the impact of technology and how it has embedded to foreign policy topics. It tries to present multiple positive and negative roles that digital technologies play in this matter and how diplomacy is involved. The second subsection of this chapter will elaborate how previous research has tried to define digital diplomacy and will shortly compare it to cyber diplomacy, which is seen as a definition defined more distinctly.

#### 2.1 Technology in Foreign Policy

It has become clear, that living in the digital era has made technology almost an inevitable part of our daily lives, giving us the opportunity to be connected to the world more conveniently and easily. Media outlets, that have also been digitalized over the years, are keeping us up to date on what is happening and doing this within minutes, if not even seconds. For example, news about bombing in the Middle East can be presented via live stream by a local correspondent to television channels in France. Unfortunately, distributing information is not done only on noble purposes and digital media channels are being used to spread disinformation globally [21]. In example China, that is using different media channels to promote its own narrative on controversial topics, having a large network of diplomats and journalists abroad to help with this [22]. COVID-19 pandemic is only one of those topics, which had a massive amount of disinformation around it, questioning the source of the virus, the actual effects of the vaccines, data of deaths and many other issues [23], [24]. China used vaccines as a tool in their foreign policy, claiming that the Western countries are being selfish while China is donating the vaccines to others that are lacking of it, using media once again to distribute these messages [22], [25]. It was not done only to shed a bad light on other countries, but rather to use this as an argument to get political support for other matters, i.e. the question of Taiwan's sovereignty, that China has been struggling with [22], [26].

Using technologies as tools in the foreign policy is not limited to information distribution and using media channels to do so. Even though this has been an angle to look at digital diplomacy and will be elaborated more in the next chapter. Digital technologies have become a geopolitical issue, which also shows its complexity and importance. The Foreign Affairs Committee of the United Kingdom, for example, has stated five ways how new technologies are influencing the international landscape [27]:

- Technology 'democratisation' increased online access, which allows more engagement for public governance.
- Dependence on critical technologies new and emerging technologies such as 5G, 6G, Artificial Intelligence etc. are mainly developed in USA and China, giving them more power and making others dependent on them (e.g. controlling the supply chain).
- 'Weaponisation' of the Internet just as the online space can be used for creating good governance, it can also be used for malicious purposes. E.g. spreading disinformation and propaganda online, conducting cyber attacks and creating mistrust in the society through these activities.
- Enhanced connectivity Increased pressure for the diplomats and foreign ministries that have more issues and topics to deal with. Due to the fast and powerful spread of information with the help of online channels, public officials are pressured to react and take action rapidly.
- Increased role of the private sector big tech companies that have the power and capacities to influence policymaking, either directly or through their actions on the global arena.

Elaborating more on the technology 'democratisation', then this can be seen as one of the positive impacts of digital development. E-governance and the use of digital tools to provide public services is a way to increase transparency in the society, as well as to improve public service delivery [28]. Nevertheless, e-governance has also been researched and seen as something that can deepen the socioeconomic inequality. Whether it is the lack of access to ICT and digital infrastructure, lack of skills or insufficient application of a national digital identity, latter one being one of the key pillars to provide

public services efficiently and transparently [29], [30]. The global digital divide is still a very relevant issue as only around half of the world's population is using Internet, while developing countries are extremely disconnected comparing to the world [31].

Another human-centric debate has been whether digitalisation and technology will put people out of jobs and replace humans with robots [32]. This fear will most likely remain for some time, considering the fast-paced developments happening and people having to make a change in their careers, or to learn new skills to be competitive in a digitalised society. Although these discussions were happening already during the industrial revolution in the 18<sup>th</sup> century, today, we are actually facing a global deficit of workforce in ICT sector [32], [33].

Digital technologies don't recognise borders, so whatever happens in a nation, will have a global impact as well. Question won't be if, but rather the scale and scope of it. Currently, most of the technological advancements are happening in 'big tech' companies [34], [35]. 'Big Techs' refer to digital platform providers that control the majority of the provided platform services and the data flows with it, biggest players being Amazon, Apple, Meta (Facebook), Alphabet (Google), Microsoft, Alibaba, Tencent, Baidu [35], [36]. These corporations have a substantial market capitalisation, showing their dominance in the stock market, but not limited to [37]. This also validates a previously mentioned aspect how big technology companies have the power and capabilities to influence global policymaking. None of these companies were established in Europe, but mainly in the United States and China [34], [35]. Which has made Europe realise its gap in technological developments and decreasing market share. An issue so burning, that Europe has adopted a digital sovereignty concept, an ideological framework to decrease Europe's dependence on 'Big Techs' and gain back its competitiveness [38].

Despite the several emerging ways technology is influencing foreign policy, an old tool, diplomacy, remains as the key instrument for influencing international discussions between nations [39]. By understanding the importance of ICT in diplomacy, many countries have created separate department(s) to their foreign ministry to handle these matters, such as USA, Russian Federation, Canada, Estonia, Germany, France, United Kingdom and many others [40]. Of course, as articulated earlier, it is not solely the public sector anymore, who dominates the policymaking. It's the role of private sector and civil society as well, who have the opportunity to participate in public governance

mechanisms, or to impact the processes indirectly with their actions. Therefore, coordinated actions between states and stakeholders are needed to bridge the global digital divide and take advantage of the technological advancements. Internet is global, so should be the approach we jointly take.

## 2.2 Defining Digital Diplomacy

The principle of technology influencing foreign policy is clear, but what exactly is perceived as a problem and what are the opportunities, depends on the viewpoint and the changing society. Still, the institutions responsible for foreign policy and affairs remain traditional – the ministry of foreign affairs, which in some cases can be united with other spheres of policy [41]. Diplomacy is the soft way of achieving foreign policy goals by negotiating, gathering necessary information and so on, without using force [42]. Researchers claim that the current political landscape and our societies have changed tremendously, meaning that diplomacy should not be talked only in the context of governments, but other players such as international companies etc. also practice diplomacy [40], [41], [43]. ICTs have had an extent impact on diplomacy, which have led to coining the term 'digital diplomacy' [39]. As there isn't yet a mutually agreed definition, the phrase "digital diplomacy" can cause confusion due to its ambiguity [44].

Many definite it as the use of digital tools and social media in the field of diplomacy. Manor [43] looks at it as how ministries of foreign affairs use social media for their work and claims the Arab Spring in 2010 being the catalyst event for that. He points out that the ministries of foreign affairs follow news carefully as their source of information. Hence, when online media became dominant, the diplomats had to adjust. Sheludiakova *et al.* [45] describes digital diplomacy also through communication, by explaining how ICTs have put mass communication online and diplomatic service has been forced to start using different online media channels for work. This is seen as a positive way to promote a country and create a certain image for the public, which also enables a bigger outreach to target groups. Authors also explain that digital diplomacy is part of public diplomacy, which like digital diplomacy, doesn't have a joint definition, but simply described, means the efforts to communicate to foreign publics with a purpose of influencing the information receiver(s) in a way that it helps to achieve foreign policy objectives of the information provider [45]–[47]. As Ayhan [47] brings out, some even argue about the role of non-government organisations in public diplomacy, while the European Union External Action (EEAS) contrary, emphasises the importance of non-government actors in order for policymaking to be inclusive with the people and for the people [48]. But when it comes to digital diplomacy, it is something that the European Union (EU) hasn't outlined coherently, though it has realised the importance of digital diplomacy strategy and how it supports the EU on achieving its objectives [3].

This opens up another possible way of defining digital diplomacy, seeing it as a topic part of the foreign policy, meaning that how digitalisation and digital tools are influencing the geopolitical stance. The European Union's Foreign Affairs Council has come out with conclusions, describing the influential role of digital technologies in geopolitics, referring to the importance of having a joint digital diplomacy for the EU [20]. Still, 'digital diplomacy' is not defined, nor is there a reference to other documents that could be defining it. On the other hand, 'cyber diplomacy' has a clear definition with specific objectives:

Cyber diplomacy aims to secure multilateral agreements on cyber norms, responsible state and non-state behaviour in cyberspace, and effective global digital governance. The goal is to create an open, free, stable and secure cyberspace anchored in international law through alliances between like-minded countries, organisations, the private sector, civil society and experts. [15, p. 1]

Cyber diplomacy is more related to defence policy, handling the civilian and military aspects of cybersecurity, and bringing in the applicability of international law in cyberspace [50], [51]. Regardless of that, the lines can still be blurry on many occasions, especially as internet governance and internet freedom are discussed among other matters. Feakin and Weaver [52] argue, that the angle of work is a matter of maturity, which is why countries have decided to talk about cyber diplomacy from the security aspect, saying the advancements will push nations to see the issues with cyber, digital and technology in a holistic way. For the purpose of this thesis, main focus will stay on digital diplomacy, but explaining the essence of cyber diplomacy is important when articulating the definition of digital diplomacy. This shows how digital diplomacy takes the umbrella term of technologies' power in geopolitics, and how cyber is a supportive sub definition with the security perspective.

Nevertheless, despite the numerous perspectives, there is no exact definition accepted widely for digital diplomacy [39], [44]. The Diplo Foundation, an organisation studying this matter closely for several years, claims that by using different adjectives and prefixes to describe 'digital' topics in different spheres, the terminology keeps on getting more confusing [53]. However, they point out three main ways how digital technologies are influencing diplomacy and try to explain digital diplomacy through that [54]:

- Digital technologies impacting the environment for diplomacy new and redistributed political power, interdependence on other countries and actors etc.
- New emerging issues such as data privacy, e-commerce, digital infrastructure and standards, digital identity etc.
- The use of digital technologies in diplomacy, such as social media, virtual and hybrid events etc.

In addition to digital diplomacy, a similar term 'tech diplomacy' is in use. It can be argued that it gained momentum when Denmark as a first country in the world appointed a Tech Ambassador, that is located in Silicon Valley, in the hub of majority global technology trends [55]. Even though based in Silicon Valley, the ambassador has a global mandate and is being supported with additional offices in Beijing and in Copenhagen, the capital of Denmark. The purpose of this unique setting is to represent Denmark's national interests and to make sure these are aligned with technological advancements and also follow democratic principles and value human rights [56].

Garcia [57] sees 'tech diplomacy' as the umbrella term, where digital diplomacy is being conducted in a multistakeholder environment, meaning states, private sector, academia and civil society, all included in the ecosystem. Even though tech diplomacy could also be interpreted as diplomacy with Big Tech companies [58]. The relationship between different definitions as seen by Garcia is shown on Figure 1. It also brings in the term 'e-Diplomacy' which refers to the use of ICT tools in diplomacy. According to his theory, digital diplomacy combines the use of ICT tools in diplomacy together with topics in foreign policy that are influenced by digital technologies and their developments.



Figure 1. Garcia's theory of defining technology in diplomacy.

The characteristics of diplomacy are destined to change as technology develops [57]. Therefore, it is understood why the definition of digital diplomacy still remains unclear to many and is often used in different settings interchangeably with tech diplomacy, cyber diplomacy, e-diplomacy etc. In addition to states, the private sector has a tremendous influence in global policymaking compared to former environment where old-school diplomacy was conducted, thus adding more complexity to this topic. This thesis tries to bring some clarity for the Estonian case.

## **3** Research Methodology

This chapter will give an overview of the used research methodology for the thesis. A qualitative research was conducted, which is used to explore and analyse data that is presented in text and is non-numerical [59]. The first subsection of this chapter will introduce the case study methodology and explains why it was a suitable choice for this thesis. The second subsection introduces the data triangulation theory, used data collection methods and how the data was analysed. Lastly, the third subsection presents one of the used data collection method, interviewing, and will introduce the conduction process. The other data collection method, document analysis, is covered in the data triangulation section.

#### 3.1 Case Study

With the aim to find an answer to the stated problem of defining digital diplomacy for Estonia, a case study research methodology was chosen. This thesis is looking at a concrete example in a wider context, which has not been researched before. The Estonian model has been looked at multiple times, but mostly from the perspective of Estonia being a good example for e-governance and digital solutions. Therefore, this paper pursues to fill the gap of something that is not in place for a digital frontrunner, as Estonia is often referred as. This section will introduce the essence of a case study, bring out positive and negative aspects of this research methodology, and explain how this choice of methodology fits for the current thesis.

The case study methodology is a way to analyse an object of interest through a more complex and comprehensive lens [60]. As Yin refers [61], when 'why' or 'how' questions are framing the research, using a case study methodology is preferred, even though there is scepticism around it as well. It can be argued, that by analysing something from multiple angles, the research can be too abstract and not have a solid outcome backed up by arguments [62]. Nevertheless, case study remains a commonly used approach to understand phenomena, which can be difficult to explain when taking something out from

the bigger picture. In-depth analysis of the examined case can help to create connections between different aspects that otherwise would be left out of the scope of the research, yet can have an influencing role [60]. Nevertheless, it is important to set boundaries to fully understand what the research will focus on. Otherwise, it will be easy to get lost in the data and nuances that might complement the research, yet will be extra for the chosen scope.

By focusing specifically on Estonia's model, this research was designed as a single case study, offering a deeper understanding and analysis for the chosen object (Estonia). As Yin suggest [60], a screening procedure should be done before going to the actual case, so looking at relevant documents and talking to people connected to the topic that could be potential respondents in the data collection phase. The author of this thesis went through the screening process as the topic is very relevant to the author's daily work. Different public and confidential documents were reviewed that proved the need to conduct a case study with the scope chosen for this paper. These findings were validated by experts in the field who also confirmed the necessity and some of them contributed to the data collection process by giving interviews. The next chapter will introduce Yin's theory on data triangulation, which was used for this thesis and is a crucial part of a case study.

## **3.2 Data Triangulation**

Even though approaches to conducting a research can vary depending on the subject and objectives, the importance of data is relevant for any case. Independent of the scope, the source and validity of information becomes crucial when doing an analysis and justifying the stated arguments. Therefore, multiple data sources are needed to compare different positions and findings, and to adequately make conclusions based on the findings, not on biases [63]. Yin's theory of data triangulation [60] exercises the way of using several data sources to collect and analyse data, therefore finding and confirming which results overlap. Through that, overarching conclusions can be represented, which constitute for a common understanding, not for a narrow interpretation of the subject.

For the current thesis, main sources of data were two national strategy documents of Estonia, interviews conducted by the author, and various other academic or official documents. Firstly, thorough literature review was done to give background information

on how technology is related to foreign policy, and to give examples of attempts to define digital diplomacy. Several existing academic journals and sources were visited and studied to provide the reader with relevant up-to-date information. After laying a strong foundation, further document reviews were conducted to dive in deeper to the Estonian model. For this, document analysis as a form of qualitative research was chosen. The author looked at two national development plans – The Estonian Foreign Policy Strategy and the Estonia's Digital Agenda 2030. Both will be introduced in section 4.1.

After analysing the development plans, interviews were conducted with key experts working in different sectors. Thorough overview of the process and criteria will be presented in the next section, subchapter 3.3. In essence, interviews act as a valuable source of information that complement the data triangulation theory, Yin [61] even claiming this being one of the most important one. The qualitative data that is being collected through interviews will help to include insights that may not be reflected in written documents. It is possible to hear from people who are connected to the topic that's being researched, and therefore understand, whether theoretical approaches on the paper are actually relevant in practice. Of course, it is important for the interviewer not to be biased and not direct the conversation to the desired outcome [60]. When the interviews are conducted, transcripts of the conversations are created so the data could be analysed efficiently. There isn't one standard way of creating a transcript and it is up to the author to decide the level of detail and form how the transcript is presented [60]. After collecting data through interviews and having finalised transcripts, analysis is carried out. A commonly used tool for analysing qualitative data is thematic analysis, which is a method to find reoccurring themes in the qualitative data [64]. Different phases of thematic analysis by Braun and Clarke [65] are presented in table 1.

PHASE	DESCRIPTION OF THE PROCESS
Familiarising yourself with your data	Transcribing data (if necessary), reading and re-reading the data, noting down initial ideas.
Generating initial codes	Coding interesting features of the data in a systematic fashion across the entire data set, collating data relevant to each code.
Searching for themes	Collating codes into potential themes, gathering all data relevant to each potential theme.

Table 1. Phases of thematic analysis (Source: Braun and Clarke, 2006).

Reviewing themes	Checking if the themes work in relation to the coded extracts (Level 1) and the entire data set (Level 2), generating a thematic 'map' of the analysis.
Defining and naming themes	Ongoing analysis to refine the specifics of each theme, and the overall story the analysis tells, generating clear definitions and names for each theme.
Producing the report	The final opportunity for analysis. Selection of vivid, compelling extract examples, final analysis of selected extracts, relating back of the analysis to the research question and literature, producing a scholarly report of the analysis.

For this thesis, taguette.org tool was used for coding and to extract themes from the interview transcripts. While conducting the analysis, the thesis followed the theory and guidelines by Braun and Clark [65]. The analysis together with the results are described in section 4.2.

## **3.3 Interview Overview**

After literature review for the case and document analyses was done, interviews with experts were conducted. This was a tool to validate the findings and to get an additional insight to the current situation and problem. In order to have a perspective from all governance sectors (public sector, private sector and civil society) represented, interviewees with different professional background were chosen [66]. Total of 7 interviews were conducted that gave valuable insights to the topic. Most of the interviewees were current or former Estonian civil servants experienced in policymaking and digitalisation. In addition, views of the private sector and academic institutions that deal with international cooperation on digitalisation/ICT were represented.

Interviews lasted between 25-40 minutes, depending on interviewee's speaking pace and the length of answers. In the beginning of each interview, the respondent had to give consent for the session to be recorded. The interviewer notified all respondents in advance that the session would be recorded for transcription purpose and full anonymity for the individual will be granted. In total, the semi-structured interview [67] had 10 questions, the 5<sup>th</sup> one having a sub-question if the interviewee was able to elaborate more. Interviewees were also given the chance to provide any additional feedback or comments after responding to the main questions. The interview questions can be found in appendix

2.

All interviews were conducted online via Microsoft Teams. Sessions were recorded and automatically transcribed by the Teams' transcription tool. The author did a proofread afterwards for the generated transcripts by watching the recording and comparing it to the generated text. Faulty phrases were corrected, repetitions and stuttering were removed, creating verbatim transcripts [68]. These transcripts were used for thematic analysis and the results are presented in the corresponding section 4.2.

## 4 Results

This chapter will introduce the results of the research and the analysis conducted with the data. It will demonstrate the data triangulation theory described in the previous chapter, as different sources of data will help to evaluate the findings and draw well-argued conclusions. The first subchapter will present two document analyses that were carried out with the purpose of understanding Estonia's current conditions and the state's official view and plans. The second subchapter discusses the results of a thematic analysis, where the interview data was identified, analysed and interpretated. Overarching summary of the findings will be reflected in the next main chapter, where the output is used for solving the research problem and providing recommendations.

## 4.1 Overview of Key Strategies

This section will give a detailed overview of two key national strategic documents of Estonia that were analysed for the purpose of this thesis. Important to explain, that Estonia is a highly digitalised country (as elucidated earlier), which means it has a developed and overarching digital ecosystem. In order to fulfill its goals as a digital society, all other policy spheres have to contribute to their field of expertise, also making them responsible for digital matters in their area of work [69]. A document analysis was conducted for the following strategic documents:

- Estonian Foreign Policy Strategy 2030 (in Estonian 'Eesti Välispoliitika Arengukava 2030') – national development plan for achiving Estonia's foreign policy objectives;
- Estonia's Digital Agenda 2030 (in Estonian 'Eesti digiühiskond 2030') national digital strategy of Estonia.

The abovementioned two documents are not comprehensive to give a full overview of Estonia's digital landscape, but are the most relevant ones when we look at technology in the foreign policy context. Both documents were reviewed and evaluated in detail and

will be introduced further in this chapter. To follow the aim of this thesis, the analysis of the documents predominantly introduces issues related to technology and digitalisation, elaborating more on the Estonian context. Important to explain, that as a member of the EU, Estonia is strongly involved and dependent on policymaking and regulations of the EU [70]. On the 2<sup>nd</sup> December 2021, the Government of Estonia approved priority topics for Estonia in the EU, these being digital and green transitions, and security [70]. Therefore, just like other national documents follow the EU's regulations and guidelines, so do the two that are being analysed for this research. Firstly, 'Estonian Foreign Policy Strategy 2030' is being expounded.

#### 4.1.1 Estonian Foreign Policy Strategy 2030

As described in previous chapters, by nature, foreign ministries are responsible for their nation's foreign policy strategy and completing the objectives set [41]. Same applies in Estonia, where the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Estonia is leading the planning and implementing of the nation's foreign policy [15]:

The task of Estonian foreign policy is to ensure the security and prosperity of the state and its citizens and to protect their interests in international relations. Foreign policy is consistent and intertwined with other fields, and its overall success depends on the clarity and functioning of the principles of cooperation between all actors, including the private and public sectors and civil society.

The intertwined nature of foreign policy has been brought out multiple times in the document, which also aligns with the characteristics of technology in foreign policy, as explained earlier in the chapter 'Theoretical Overview' of this thesis. The Estonian Foreign Policy Strategy 2030 serves the purpose of ensuring Estonia's interests internationally, while considering the constantly changing environment. This development plan for foreign policy is first of its kind in Estonia and was composed together with a supporting committee, which consisted of representatives from all other ministries. In addition, other stakeholders and civil society was involved for the purpose of inclusivity.

According to the document, Estonian foreign policy has a general purpose: maintaining Estonian language, culture and nationality; the country's sovereignty and independence in the global arena; increased welfare of its citizens and the Estonian diaspora; Estonia's

increased contribution to the sustainable development goals. The document states three strategic strands, that need to be strengthened for fulfilling this purpose, these being the following: 1) security, stable international relations and sustainable development; 2) external economy; 3) Estonian diaspora. First, each of the strand gives an evaluation of the current situation of the topic(s) that is covered with the strand, also presenting main conclusions from it. Then the goals set for 2030 are being stated, together with the supporting sub-objectives, indicators and necessary actions needed to achieve the goals.

**Security, stable international relations, and sustainable development** – this section brings out the fact, that over the past decades, the environment has become more complex, blurring geographical borders and making it difficult to handle security threats. It mentions the rapid development of technologies, which has caused increased digitalisation and therefore brings both risks (i.e. cyberattacks) and opportunities (i.e. e-commerce). Also, it mentions the spread of disinformation via online media channels and how it has an impact on the public opinion. This means that when planning foreign policy strategies, dynamics and situations happening on a national level must be considered. Estonia's digital identity, e-services, secure cyberspace and esteemed digital country image are considered Estonia's strengths, that can and should be used to strengthen Estonia's international reputation.

Technology is not stated in any of the sub-objectives, but has been mentioned several times together with the necessary actions. Strategic communication and helping with development of digital services and tools in priority countries (that have shown interest) is emphasised. As well as encouraging other countries to implement ICT solutions and e-services in multiple fields, mainly in the context of providing development aid. In the EU, single market that promotes innovation, use of digital solutions and ensures free flow of data, is being prioritised. In addition, development of e-services and cross-border data exchange in several other formats (i.e. Nordic-Baltic Cooperation, and group of Likeminded countries) is highly welcomed. The actions also include the capabilities of Estonian diplomats, placing the need to train them on cybersecurity and emerging technologies, in the agenda. According to the document, increased reputation and influence of Estonia is important and it is the role of foreign service to support and spread the word of Estonia as an innovative digital society.

**External economy** – the section explains how the powers have shifted in the global economy, where China and India are becoming dominant over US and EU. It also marks Asia and Africa as new emerging markets. Technology is no stranger in this context, stating the difficulties of e-commerce and the trouble of creating relevant legal frameworks, also the need and pressure to ensure free flow of data. Thus, Estonian companies selling ICT solutions have high potential on the global market. As the proportion of digital services in the total export of goods and services is growing (in the example of Estonia), so is the need to develop a global legal framework.

The interest for Estonian secure and trustworthy digital identity and identity management system has grown across the world, which is another reason to actively participate in shaping the global legal framework. It is not only to share Estonia's model, but to increase international cooperation thanks to secure data exchange, digital identity and mutually accepted standards. The Estonian e-Residency program has opened Estonian e-services for foreign entrepreneurs, which has increased Estonia's 'digital country' image and has increased investments to the country, supporting its economic growth. Estonian diplomats also have a role in this, by introducing these benefits around the world and finding opportunities to strengthen international cooperation, as well as standing for Estonia's interests.

Despite the huge potential and benefits, there are still some hurdles waiting to be crossed. Even though digitalisation has automated many processes and supporting daily tasks, the aging society and lack of workforce is deepening. The document also states the ICT sector being one of the most in need for laborers in the upcoming years. It is why promoting Estonia as an attractive, efficient and safe place to work and live, is important. Of course, it is not only to invite foreigners to fill the labor gaps, but to support the Estonian diaspora to return to Estonia and make their acclimatisation as smooth as possible. Supporting companies on the global market and building the business diplomacy capacities among Estonian diplomats are seen as needs to strengthen Estonia's external economy. It is also pointed out, that finding the right balance between country's economic and security interests is crucial.

The need to build business diplomacy capacities are also brought out as action items, but moreover, mentioning the need to increase the number or digital diplomats. The strategy also prioritises actions to ensure digital data exchange with all Estonia's economic partners in Europe. Therefore, it supports the development of cross border data exchange and e-services, also the infrastructure needed for it. Strong bilateral digital cooperation with France and Germany are seen as priorities, as well as the implementation of EU's digital solutions in Eastern Partnership countries (Armenia, Azerbaijan, Moldova, Georgia, Ukraine and Belarus) [71]. In addition, paying extra attention to the growth of Estonian ICT companies and supporting their export of goods and services.

**Estonian diaspora** – the third strand describes the growing Estonian diaspora, as well as the growing international travel of citizens. It once again mentions the issue of aging population, also stating the fact that young people between the age 20-39 is the main age group to leave Estonia. Main purpose for this being better job opportunities and salary abroad, but on top of that, free movement in the EU and Estonia's well-developed eservices that support the movement. The movement for leisure purposes, job abroad or other reasons, has increased the workload of Estonian missions, that are obligated to assist its citizens. Technology has a part in this issue too, both as the solution and as the cause of the problem. To start from the bright side, an example being that citizens travelling are able to find necessary consular information online. An example from the negative side – foreigners applying for the e-Residency card will usually collect the card from an Estonian mission (consulate or embassy), which puts a lot of pressure for Estonia's small missions due to the small amount of personnel. Efficient, better accessible and convenient e-services are stated as a sub-objective to support the Estonian diaspora and Estonian citizens abroad for shorter time, i.e. for travelling purposes. As stronger connection and communication with the Estonian diaspora is brought out as an objective, the use of technology and online channels are there to assist with achieving this.

**Strong foreign service** – this supportive section is seen as a foundation that is needed to work on the aforementioned strands and achieve the set goals. The description of the current situation states that the number of employees in the Estonian foreign service has decreased, but the need to represent Estonia and its interests globally has increased tremendously. There are many regions and fields that are not covered or don't have an Estonian footprint and this has caused many difficulties for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to achieve Estonia's foreign policy goals. In order to tackle the problems brought out in the strands before, it is important that the contribution of the foreign service increases. The document also emphasizes, that acquiring new skills and knowledge in diplomacy is crucial to keep up in this fast-paced world, specially when it comes to

emerging technologies. At the same time, Estonia's visibility, representation and good image must be kept up. For this to happen, an action item of increasing the number of diplomats dealing with cyber, economic and digital matters has been marked down. The document also says Estonia plans to be the first country in the world to create an e-Embassy, which would help to increase global coverage. In addition, the use of modern ICT tools that will help to conduct foreign policy activities, especially in unexpected and distinct situations, is listed as an action item.

To sum up, technology crossed each strand from different perspectives. The given overview brought out the main topics of the Estonian foreign policy development plans, that were connected to technology and/or digitalisation. Even though the strategic document discussed the importance of several factors that have and will change the geopolitical sphere, the focus of this analysis remained on digitalisation and technologies for the purpose of this thesis. It is clear for the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, that technological developments are influencing foreign policy and how the landscape in diplomacy has changed – from new discussion topics to educating diplomats to use ICT tools and to understand their role in foreign policy.

## 4.1.2 Estonia's Digital Agenda 2030

The Estonian Digital Agenda 2030 [69] aims to develop the country, it's economy and society with the help of digital technologies. Sub-objectives are formulated in the document to support the overall aim, while emphasizing innovation, the use of emerging technologies, creating favourable conditions, and keeping citizens in the centre of the developments. Open and inclusive public governance, where citizens can and want to be involved, is seen as a trend Estonia is able to set and lead the example globally. The document has phrased a vision of a country that's full of digital power, and to fulfill this, the Digital Agenda has set precise objectives and action plans. There are three courses of action that the activities are drawn on:

- 1. General development of Estonia's digital society, with a goal of providing best user experience for digital services.
- 2. Improved connectivity, with a goal of fast and accessible internet everywhere in the country.

3. Development of national cyber security, with a goal of keeping Estonia's cyberspace safe, secure and trustworthy.

In order to achieve the ambitious vision, this development plan has stated expectations for other policy spheres, as these are directly connected to the Digital Agenda, but not covered in this document. That's because the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Telecommunication (MKM) is responsible for implementing the Estonian Digital Agenda and for the overall digital development of the country. But each institution is responsible for its own area of work and digitalisation. The three action courses brought out in the previous paragraph are described in detail, but before that, general overview of the current digital landscape is provided.

Estonia really is a digital society that has established itself in the global arena and ranks high in several leaderboards. Such as the EU's Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI) or the United Nation's E-Government Survey. Almost all public services are available online and the number of people using digital public services is one of the highest in the EU. Nevertheless, usability is not meeting people's expectations nor demands. Lack of resources to maintain and develop services is a pain point, which hinders keeping up with the trends. On top of that, issues with connectivity and fast internet are still relevant in rural areas. Geography comes into play when talking about security as the number of cyberattacks and acts of cybercrime have increased. Changes in geopolitics and the use of technologies to influence policy is becoming more and more acute. Estonia sees this as a huge threat as itself is also dependent on foreign companies and vendors. The snapshot of Estonia's current situation emphasizes that threats online don't recognize borders and international cooperation is crucial. The evaluation also describes the economic perspective, saying Estonian ICT sector and startup companies have a lot of potential on the global market. However, lack of workforce and specific skills in the field is considered as the main factor that's slowing down the digital development. It is clear that digital technologies and their development is here to stay, which brings several opportunities, as well as risks, that require specialists and not generalists to mitigate them.

The first course of action, **Estonia's digital country**, has the sub-objective of providing best user experience when using digital public services. The success is measured with user satisfaction rates (both companies and citizens) and published once a year. For

improved service delivery, the country wants to move to proactive and event-based services, using Artificial Intelligence (AI) and quality data for it. Among that, citizens' rights must be protected, developments need to be citizen-centric and people will have to have control over their data. Sustainability and green digital government is the way of developing for the future, and Estonia is no exception. It does so by implementing environmentally friendly solutions and following the reusability principle when and where possible.

The question of sustainability comes to discussions when centrally provided IT-services are talked about. Currently, most of the foundational IT-services are handled and maintained by each organisation independently, making the ecosystem very distributed. Maintaining this with legacy systems is costly and here, consolidating base layer solutions is seen as one solution. In addition, the usage of cloud solutions in the public sector that is interoperable with private sector solutions is looked at. Worth to mention, that the concept of a data embassy is being revised and researched as the opportunity to host critical data and services elsewhere for backup, and is a potential way of mitigating risks when a severe cyberattack is happening (or happened) and critical services are dysfunctional.

One of the pillars of Estonia's digital society is its data exchange layer X-tee, which allows to exchange data securely between information systems, by both public and private organisations. As this solution is being further used by other countries, it is important for Estonia to continue its development. Moreover, as the EU prioritises cross-border data exchange and aims to create interoperability between basic public services of nations across the Union. Unfortunately, Estonia's resources are mostly directed to keeping up the current systems and there's no actual strategical system how to develop new skills and technology, which has decreased the innovation in digital government. The goal is to create a systematic approach for the academia, public and the private sector to collaborate on development efforts. The document states, that there's still too much duplication and silos between different entities when developing digital technologies and services. Reusability of digital tools and services with sustainable funding is seen as the core method to tackle the aforementioned issues.

The first action course also elaborates on international cooperation, as Estonia is seen as a valuable contributor to international policymaking. Due to limited resources, Estonia has to choose the focus and scope of its contribution to international initiatives, even though its participation is expected in almost all cooperation formats on digitalisation and technology topics. Estonia has also learned from other countries' experiences on digitalisation, as well as continues to share its experiences. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and Digital Nations are mentioned as priority cooperation formats that Estonia should participate in for knowledge-sharing purposes. Additionally, making bilateral cooperation with countries that are digitally well-developed and that could benefit to Estonia's digital government development. The EU and the cooperation format between Nordic countries are marked as ones to take part for larger policy and law-making purposes. The objectives of targeted international cooperation include better interoperability of digital services between Estonia and other countries in the EU, for both private and public sector. Estonia will continue to support its ICT sector companies on external markets when possible and necessary, and offer state expertise for other countries if requested.

The second course of action, **improved connectivity**, has the subobjective to provide super fast, affordable and trusted connectivity, that would enable the creation and use of innovative digital services across Estonia. Currently, 58% of the households and companies can access internet connection that is at least 100Mbit/s, the aim is to reach 100%. The results will be measured annually by the Consumer Protection and Technical Regulatory Authority. Estonian communications market depends a lot on the regulations made on the European Union level, which gives clear guidelines how the market should be functioning. There are currently three large cable network providers, three mobile telephone operators and several smaller regional operators in Estonia. According to the document, there is high competition on the retail market, making it easy for new actors to enter the market, which also makes the mobile communication services affordable for the users. Nevertheless, per consumers, Estonian market is small on the global scale. This makes the Estonian communications market more vulnerable to international changes. Therefore, the strategy sees European Union and the International Telecommunication Union as two large forums, where Estonia's interests should be protected and presented.

To improve the service provision across the country, Estonia has a broadband network with the length of 7000 km that has been built with the state's support. That's in addition

to the networks built by the telecommunication operators (also known as telcos). In general, the average and maximum speeds provided by the telcos are sufficient to offer daily digital services for the users. Despite that, Estonia ranks below EU's average when it comes to stable and fast networks in rural areas. The state is slowly progressing as it needs to keep up with the EU's targets and aims to have fiber-optic access networks to more than 45,000 households, which is around 1/3 of the total number of rural area households without fast fixed connection. The goal is to have full coverage with 5G networks, which will avail opportunities to implement new technologies, including 6G networks. Digital inclusion is high on the agenda and therefore investments to the infrastructure from both the state and telcos is needed. The document states, that in order to have stable and uninterrupted 5G coverage in main transport corridor areas, the country will support the installation of core infrastructure necessary for it. Moreover, state will support selected residential and business areas with the same matter. And to be ready for implementing 6G networks, Estonia will support reaching an agreement on the EU level soon, which will regulate the usage, support measures and creating the legal framework to operate in.

The need to develop doesn't come from the urge to be modern and innovative, but rather to be able to offer services on an advanced level, that new technological developments are helping to provide. Building 5G and 6G networks are not seen as success stories just by creating more connectivity, but how it can improve service delivery through better outreach with the relevant and expected content. The state supports planning and developing services that majority of the society finds beneficial. Energy, environment, social services, healthcare, connected mobility are just few of the example areas that could also serve Estonia's economic and social interests, not only from the citizens' perspective. Innovative content and business services that are based on new broadband technologies, such as 5G networks, are seen as Estonia's opportunity to be a frontrunner of global 5G trends. Maintaining internet freedom is a priority when talking about digital developments, therefore Estonia also continues to contribute to the work of international organisations, with the purpose of advocating and protecting internet freedom and its principles.

The third course of action is focusing on **cybersecurity**, as this is essential to keep the digital society up and running. Safety and trust lay the foundation for innovation and developments, so cybersecurity supports the general vision of Digital Agenda, while

keeping the national security in mind. To measure the security of Estonia's cyberspace, it is evaluated with two indicators: 1) Service providers (as defined in the Cybersecurity Act) have met the requirements at the level where potential damages are not remarkable, and 2) The amount of people who haven't avoided using digital services despite the existence of security risks.

The current division of responsibilities for cybersecurity in Estonia is very decentralised and each system owner has to ensure the security of their systems by themselves. This has increased the necessity for specialised cybersecurity experts. Still, there are tasks that are centralised from the state's perspective, including but not limited to monitoring cyberspace, development of national strategies and security standards, and supervision. The Digital Agenda states that the current setup for crisis management and solving incidents needs improvement, e.g. having the right responsible authorities for different situations. But the problem lies deeper as the general ability to analyse the current situation and trends is low, which hinders the ability to develop responsive up-to-date standards and guidelines to deal with the threats. This shortcoming is seen as a something that prevents sustainable development and innovation for a digital society. To recap, Estonia's current capacity to prevent risks is not sufficient as there is lack of specialised cyber experts, issues with financial resources, and the decentralised ecosystem that makes it more difficult to monitor cyberspace and mitigate threats.

To conclude, the Estonian Digital Agenda 2030 is a forward-looking development plan, which understands the rapidly changing nature of technologies, as well as how it influences geopolitics. The information presented in this section was derived from the necessity to give an overview of Estonia's current digital landscape, which the Agenda comprehensively does. However, considering the scope of this thesis, the author summarised the circumstances and future plans of the Agenda into a holistic description, while most relevant matters to the topic were emphasised. It is important to note, that due to Estonia's decentralised ecosystem, other institutions and their strategies and plans strongly complement and influence Estonia's overall situation.

## 4.2 Thematic Analysis of Interviews

This section will explore the results of the thematic analysis method that was applied to analyse the data collected from semi-structured interviews. After familiarising with the interview transcripts, the data was coded with an open-source software taguette.org. The approach used was data-driven, not having specific codes generated beforehand, but rather finding unique statements and reoccurring point of views [65]. These codes were collided into themes and in total, five themes were extracted from the texts that outline the main discussion points of the interviews and also give input for answering the research questions. These themes are presented in Figure 2 below and findings of each subject matter are discussed afterwards.



Figure 2. Thematic analysis.

## **Estonian diplomats**

Estonia is seen as a country whose voice is heard when talking about digitalisation, as well as can bring other countries together and raise awareness globally on digital matters. When asked about the role of diplomats in ensuring Estonia's image as a digital frontrunner, all respondents said they are aware of the importance and see diplomats as the 'face' of the country abroad. Interviewee E compared diplomats to a 'business card' of the country as they are often the first official contact and create the first image of the country in a foreigner's mind. Respondent A thinks that Estonian diplomats are able to raise the 'digital issues' of importance to the country on the global arena, and also bring

together likeminded countries to then spread the awareness and Estonia's positions. Interviewee D thinks that the biggest value of the diplomatic community is diplomats' good situational awareness abroad and knowing what's happening on the ground in the country they are.

Diplomats play a strong role in representing and maintaining Estonia's image and sharing its positions and best practices. Branding is a significant part of diplomats' job but standing for the country's interests in discussions happening on the political level are becoming more vital. There are higher expectations to Estonia due to its image as a digital state. Therefore, building capacities of diplomats to handle matters related to digital topics and to increase their knowledge is becoming crucial. Interviewees B, C, D, E, F and G all raised the issue and need for training the diplomats. Increasing essential knowledge on Estonia's main priorities and developments, as well as how to support these from their job position, is expected. Interviewee F specifically pointed out previous experiences, where Estonian diplomats were aware of the narrative they had learned but did not understand the essence nor the importance of the topics presented in the narrative. Adding, that '*including people in the foreign service outside of the organisation and its traditional diplomatic career path* (referring mostly to the experts from private sector and academia) *is a good example of trying to bridge this knowledge gap*', as well as complementing Estonia for already testing this.

Interviewee C elaborated by saying 'more and more conversations on foreign policy have to do with digital and cyber and tech, and geopolitics being intertwined with those. So I think the ministries of foreign affairs should have people that can make sense of the technical aspects, or have at least people who can 'translate' to diplomats who maybe are not used to digital/tech aspects'. As the discussions developed, Interviewee C shared their opinion that the role of diplomats can be divided into two main categories: 1) public diplomacy role as representing the country and talking about it publicly, and 2) practical role as meeting different stakeholders and making connections, so creating a network and conducting business diplomacy. The influence diplomats can have and how this supports the state's objectives from multiple angles (economic, security etc.) is acknowledged and appreciated. For a small country like Estonia, the representation of diplomatic missions is not extensive, yet the image of a 'digital Estonia' has spread across the globe. Interviewee G believes that the network of Estonian diplomats should increase, specially in countries where 'you wouldn't expect to send a diplomat because there is a lack of *economic ties or the country's views or approaches, e.g. to democracy, security policy, etc., are not very close'.* The human capital of Estonia for conducting digital diplomacy is modest, yet highly necessary when it comes to representing Estonia in discussions about digital matters. It is not only about introducing the country as a highly developed digital society, but its involvement is expected in substantive debates that shape the digital future of our societies.

## Estonia's Current Environment for Digital Diplomacy

Estonia's governance model and trustworthy society creates space for innovation and changes, especially related to digital matters as 'digital' is considered equivalent to the country's existence. Interviewees were asked about national strategies and development plans, to understand how they perceive policymaking in general and whether strategic documents have any influence on actual policymaking. It was stated on several occasions (respondents A, C, D, E, G), that strategies are instruments that help to create a common understanding of the priorities and goals, which then help to evaluate the progress made. This gives the opportunity to adjust if something is going out of the track, as well as it is needed as an input for improving future strategies. When the overarching goals and general vision are set with the national strategies, other agendas and working documents are supporting. Nevertheless, respondents pointed out some negative aspects that they see and have experienced in their work. Interviewee D mentioned that policymaking is more about overall governance of the country rather than strategies per se. Referring to the reality that most strategies (and not only from the Estonian perspective) are vague enough for the government to interpret it as feasible for them and the actual will and need to make chances is what sculpts the outcomes. Interviewee E explained that even when a good strategy is in place, there are still common problems between countries, such as issues with clear responsibilities, exchange and coordination of information, matching longterm visions with short-term visons and resources etc.

Estonia's policymaking is seen agile and flexible due to its small size and open governance. All respondents said that they are satisfied with the way policymaking is done in Estonia, some described it being open, inclusive or forward-looking. Respondent A said that it is evidence-based and looks at researches, so what is written is being backed-up with evidence, adding that '*there's a good understanding of the effects that these policies will create*'. Including the private sector to policymaking and engaging with the

sector in the strategy drafting process has a strong influence on economic objectives and helps to look more towards the future trends as the private sector is seen as the 'driver' for innovation. Interviewee B made a comment that on many occasions, engaging the private sector happens rather late and the government asks feedback to relatively mature documents that are not easily changeable. Yet, respondent C brought an example of the current war in Ukraine, which has caused many geopolitical challenges and forcing countries (including Estonia) to adjust to the situation and deal with the consequences. Therefore, policymaking in that case is driven from actual circumstances, not by a previously written document. Interviewee D gave another perspective by saying 'in Estonia, the policymaking is very dependent on persons, so who is actually the person drafting this policy'. Another person-centric example was given by Interviewee E, who said that Estonian Cybersecurity Strategy is broad and could even say prudent, putting public officials, including diplomats, in a position where they have a lot of flexibility and can actually design country's policy with their actions. Estonian policymaking is agile, responsive to changes which can be implemented quickly. It is mostly due to its lean government and small size, but it is also about inclusivity and the role of different stakeholder in the processes. Policymaking is co-creative, including other sectors and the opinions of citizens. The overarching national strategies indicate well what are the general objectives and what are the supportive policies to achieve these goals.

## **Policy priorities**

For efficient use of resources and sustainable development, prioritising for a small country such as Estonia is inevitable. Limited resources and therefore the need for a strategic approach appeared from the discussions. Conducted interviews explored key topics and policy spheres that Estonia should be focusing on from its digital society perspective. From the topics to focus on, cybersecurity was mentioned multiple times (by A, C, D, E, F, G). Respondent A pointed out data governance, explaining how in Estonia the state is handling the citizens' data and how citizens in return know how this data is being used, adding that there's an understanding of the data governance philosophy in the society, which is not common in many countries. Thirdly, artificial intelligence (AI) was mentioned as a key topic (by A, C, G). Interviewee A referred to the ethical use of AI as a niche to address, explaining that '*Estonia is not the 'maker of technologies' but could contribute to discussions on how AI can be used responsibly*'. Cross-border data exchange and services, including interoperability is Estonia's strength and from the interviewees'

(A, B, D, G) perspective, seen as something to certainly focus on. Respondent D elaborated on data flows by explaining how strongly it is tied to trade and economy, referring to e-commerce. In addition, suggesting that Estonia should follow Denmark's approach – negotiating with Big Techs and being present in necessary forums that are important for Danish companies and to country's economic interests.

Interviewee B stated that '*Estonia is mostly known for its e-Government ecosystem and digital government services, which it should continue to focus on*'. Respondent E shared a similar understanding, saying general digitalisation and digital transformation topic and how this increases efficiency. In addition to the previously mentioned, interviewee B also mentioned digital identity and authentication as Estonia's strength, while interviewee D said human rights and how these are protected online. Respondent G said that '*Estonia needs to continue being and also promoting to be the transparent digital country, a digital-by-default country*', stressing inclusivity and advocating for democratic principles. As well as gave an extensive list of key topics: cybersecurity, open government, digital transformation and development, core principles of a digital society, open data, privacy protection, life-event services, artificial intelligence in public services, innovation, using and experimenting new technologies.

Discussions on priority policy spheres showed that the emphasis by respondents is set based on their professional background, but still aligning on general principles. Interviewee A didn't mention any specific domains, but rather explained the need to choose the priorities based on the country's strengths and then clearly state the expected outcomes. Interviewee B stated that due to Estonia's well-developed and digitalised ecosystem, different organisations are in charge of their own topics, which include the digital dimension, e.g. the Ministry of Education and Research dealing with the implementation efforts of using digital tools in school curricula. Therefore, it is not possible to name exact sectors, but rather taking all into account, which interviewee E and F also stated – you can't and shouldn't exclude any areas because digital is everywhere. Respondent C shared a similar understanding as A, saying that '*the Estonian narrative should focus on the things that we're good at and how do we actually evolve these things based on the technologies that the future will bring*'. But also stating important policy spheres, such as security, economy, healthcare, business diplomacy and development cooperation.

Interviewee D recognised Estonian Ministry of Foreign Affairs for bringing business diplomacy and development cooperation topics together, claiming these two are important and connected from the 'digital perspective'. There are many opportunities where Estonia could take advantage and have a stronger role, yet little resources are hindering necessary actions. Interviewee D said that there have been many good options in the past that have been missed due to lack of time and people. Also stating that 'digital diplomacy policy is utmost necessary' and there should be clear roles and responsibilities as who is in charge of what topics in their work sphere. In addition, gave a negative remark by saying that currently there are still a lot of silos, ministries and other relevant government institutions are not aware of how each institution is prioritising digital topics, specially from the foreign policy perspective, and a better coordination mechanism is needed. Interviewee G emphasised the influence of national security, stating that 'almost every strategy that is focused on global aspects is a matter of national security' and 'Estonia needs to make itself visible, understood and known, and which is aligned to its general security policies'. To sum up, as digital is part of almost every policy sphere, it is not wise to prioritise one over the other, but rather focus on the country's strengths and have a clear understanding of the linkages and objectives on the national level. The extent of the focus areas is also dependent on available resources.

## **Co-operation priorities**

In addition to policy priorities, potential and already existing cooperation with countries were explored, as well as the necessary involvement and participation in international forums. Need to contribute to the European Union and its different working groups and initiatives were mostly mentioned (A, B, C, D, E, F, G). Interviewee A brought out OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development), where Estonia should be better represented. Respondent G also mentioned OECD but indicated that *'it is a big organisation, and the e-Leaders Working Group has been the most useful one so far'*. Cooperation format named Digital Nations was mentioned as an important initiative by A, D and G. Suggestion was made by interviewee A, saying *'Estonia should be part of forums, where pressing your agenda on your own is not needed, but more as doing it gradually together with other countries'*.

Respondent B mentioned specific initiatives as GovStack and European Union Digital 4 Development Hub. Moreover, stressed the necessity to have dialogues with donor

organisations that support digitalisation in developing countries, naming the World Bank, national development cooperation agencies and relevant United Nations' organisations. In addition, regional cooperation organisations, such as Smart Africa, ECOWAS (Economic Community of West African States) and SADC (Southern African Development Community) for African countries. Interviewee C listed the ITU (International Telecommunication Union) and United Nations in addition to the EU, but also explaining that the approach should be to contribute to places 'where we can actually be visible, but where we also have the resources to properly make a difference'. Interviewee D also mentioned the ITU where Estonia has not been very present due to the lack of human resources but is important as the organisation deals with standardisation. Respondent continued by saying 'it is difficult to name specific ones, but it would be wise to engage with organisations that have available funding that could be useful for Estonia'.

United Nations and ITU were again mentioned by interviewee E, first one also pointed out by G. Respondent F was the only one to say Gaia-X initiative is important, which is about building European digital infrastructure and where the discussions about future data spaces are happening, but where Estonia is not actively involved. Interviewee F also stressed that '*Estonia should be more active in the European Union work related to digital matters than it is right now*'. Nevertheless, said that '*Estonia is internationally wellrepresented and appears on many social media channels*'. Interviewee G's perception was similar to F, stating that Estonia is in most of the necessary global groups, but adding that '*most useful cooperation formats are bilateral working-level meetings with countries, which have practical outcomes*'. G concludes by saying '*work needs to be done where it could impact us the most*'. Based on that, MR-Digital working group of Nordic Council of Ministers was additionally mentioned.

When asking interviewees about concrete countries who to cooperate, overlapping answers appeared, as well as unique responses. Respondent A mentioned countries that belong to the Digital Nations initiative (in addition to Estonia, these are Portugal, Israel, South-Korea, New-Zealand, United Kingdom, Canada, Uruguay, Mexico, Denmark). The same opinion was expressed by interviewee F, D as well as by G. Cooperation with the EU countries was brought out multiple times (by A, B, C, D, E, F), interviewee A specifying *'likeminded EU countries as the ones who share the same values as Estonia'*. The Nordic-Baltic countries (Finland, Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Iceland, Estonia,

Latvia, Lithuania) were listed by interviewees A, C, D, F, G considering the geographical position and shared values and principles of these countries. Not only to cooperate bilaterally, but also regionally. Lithuania was separately mentioned by A, C, D – '*it has recently done very well in regard to digitalisation and could be a good partner*', also due to its close position to Estonia and being a Baltic country.

Asian countries were pointed out by A, B, E, interviewee B elaborating that 'Southeast Asia countries are open to cooperate'. From Asian countries, Japan was specifically mentioned (by B and E) as a digitally developed country. Interviewee E also listed Singapore, South Korea, United States, Australia and United Kingdom, respondents C and G referred to Australia and United Kingdom as well. Latter one was also mentioned by interviewee D. Singapore was described as a highly developed country that is similar to Estonia and with who the current cooperation is good and should continue (listed by B, D and G). The United States was seen as a good partner by respondents A, C, E, but interviewee D stated that 'they might have many resources, but it's also a big country and hence implementing something or getting actual outcomes is difficult'.

Respondent D suggested to '*think broader about digitalisation and how we deal with policies from the digital perspective with other countries*', finding ways to advance bilateral agreements and cooperation. The interviewee gave an example of Singapore and how Estonia could work on recognising digital signatures mutually to enable more data flows. Interviewee F shared a contradictory opinion, saying that '*Estonia has found this reputation of being the digital nation, which is beneficial for Estonia, but not similarly beneficial to others*'. Hence, Estonia may face difficulties sometimes working with others due to having different interests and also not understanding each other the same way. From other regions, Middle East was mentioned by respondents B, D and G, while D and G specified by listing Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates. However, respondent B pointed out Israel.

As the dialogue continued, respondent G shared a perspective of private sector as a cooperation partner, saying 'we should be looking towards the private sector, implementing those new innovative solutions'. Another region that was listed was North and South America (by B and E), both emphasising Latin America and E specifically mentioning Chile and Brazil. Interviewee B was the only one to see Africa as a region to cooperate with. Other countries which have not been mentioned yet but were pointed out

by some interviewees where India (by B, D, E) and Ukraine (by C and G). '*their development of past three years has been tremendous*', said respondent G about Ukraine. India was introduced rather as a country that is digitally developed and could be a good partner but is difficult to cooperate with. Interviewees were additionally asked whether they see any countries as competitors or even threat to Estonia's position as a digital frontrunner. Most respondents (A, C, E, G) believed it is not wise to take other countries as competitors, rather as role models and an opportunity to learn from them. Interviewees A and B mentioned China as a very advanced country where many digital developments are happening but did not see it as a potential partner. Despite the level of digitalisation of a country, sharing similar values is considered as a prerequisite for cooperation in the digital diplomacy sphere.

## **Cyber/Digital Diplomacy Definitions**

The theoretical background of this thesis introduced potential definitions for digital diplomacy and briefly described cyber diplomacy. Still, universally agreed understanding (moreover definition) is missing, which were also reflected in the interview responses. There was a common point of view that cyber diplomacy is more defence-focused, related to international security and keeping cyberspace safe. Interviewees A, C, D, E, F indicated that they see cyber diplomacy as part of digital diplomacy, which is wider and connected to almost every domain. Respondent A said digital diplomacy is 'to raise awareness, raise the issues of interest to international attention and to collaborate to face the, or to strengthen the voice over the matters that are of interest' and explaining 'cyber diplomacy being part of wider digital diplomacy'. Also clarifying that 'digital diplomacy is broader because digital is something which can be part of every aspect of our life'. Interviewee D defined digital diplomacy as 'doing business development having principles in mind' or 'principles-guided business development (with digital angle)'.

Interviewee E drew a parallel with 'cybercrime' definition, explaining how 'there isn't one globally agreed on definition what it is, yet it has not stopped the world dealing with these matters'. Furthermore, as the discussion developed, explaining that the EU has defined areas that digital diplomacy should cover (referring to the EU Council Conclusions on Digital Diplomacy) and Estonia as a member of the EU should follow that. Interviewee E suggested that first, national priorities for digital should be in place and then 'digital diplomacy is working towards these goals using diplomatic tools'. Respondent F stated that digital is everywhere, and everything can be digital, cyber diplomacy being one part of digital diplomacy. Interviewee G emphasised that the definition should include 'transparency' and have an indication of national security, saying digital diplomacy should focus on main principles of digitalisation that we value and preach'. Digital diplomacy is a holistic concept, aligning multiple policy areas, such as economy, development cooperation, security, education, transport, governance etc. The exact definition of 'digital diplomacy' depends on the context and on the person or organisation defining it, which is related to the objective(s) that defining aims to address.

## **5** Discussion and Recommendations

This chapter will discuss the main takeaways of the thematic analysis, and by combining these outcomes with the results of document analyses, give answers to the research questions. Conducted research resulted with a good overview of Estonia's current landscape for digital diplomacy. Estonia has a great global image as a highly digitalised country, which also sets many expectations – its contribution to discussions and work shaping the digital future is anticipated. Unfortunately, Estonia is a small country with limited resources, which means prioritising and strategical attitude is needed. Still, its size and governance model has good features – its agile, transparent, inclusive and open, which creates a trustworthy environment where innovation can nourish. Estonian diplomats, who are often the first 'face' of the country abroad, have an important role of introducing these qualities and shaping Estonia's image. Nowadays, it's not only about branding as digital has intertwined to policy topics. Estonian diplomats are forced to represent national interests on different occasions, hence capacity building is becoming crucial. The need to train the foreign service on digital matters and how to stand for Estonia's interests globally, was frequently mentioned by the interviewees of this research. Moreover, the role of private sector in digital diplomacy should not be underestimated as digital technologies are mainly developed by private companies, not by the governments. It is important to engage the private sector to ongoing discussions, policymaking and understand their influence on our digital future, as well as other relevant stakeholders.

Digital technologies have been seen as a technical matter for years, but it is changing now as these technologies are shaping geopolitics. International cooperation and strong partnerships with likeminded parties is needed to develop a democratic digital society, which is human-centric and empowered by emerging technologies. Estonia has to prioritise due to limited resources, and the same applies to partnerships. As a member of the European Union, it should align with other member states and the EU approach, when working bilaterally with a certain country is not possible, nor wise. Regional and bilateral cooperation with the Nordic-Baltic countries is reasonable and mutually beneficial. Countries that are members of the Digital Nations initiative are seen as strategic allies for Estonia, as well as it's seen as a cooperation format where Estonia should be actively engaged. Additionally, more involvement in the European Union working groups is considered as one of the priorities. Besides the member states in the aforementioned formats, the United States, Japan, Australia, Saudi Arabia, United Arab Emirates, Ukraine, India and the Latin American countries were mentioned as good or either potential partners for digital cooperation by the experts.

Strategic approach is furthermore necessary for the digital topics and policy spheres it connects to. As digital is strongly intertwined with different policy spheres, prioritising one over the other is not rational, not to say wrong. Instead, Estonia should be well aware of its strengths, use them strategically, and also have a coherent coordination mechanism in place for its national efforts to be aligned. Topics that Estonia is experienced with and can be considered as its strengths, based on the conducted research, are following: cybersecurity, data governance, e-Government ecosystem and digital transformation, cross-border data exchange, digital identity and use of artificial intelligence in public services. The list is not exhaustive but provides ground for further discussions. Moreover, it is important to follow the democratic digital society principles, on which Estonia is built on – transparency, inclusion, openness, trustworthiness and respecting human-rights.

The second research question of this thesis aimed to find how to define digital diplomacy for Estonia. The thematic analysis proved that 'digital diplomacy' is a definition that is still evolving and can be understood differently, depending on the stakeholder's point of view. There is a clear understanding that digital in today's society is linked to everything and therefore digital diplomacy is an overarching definition. For the Estonian model, it should include an indication to democratic principles and values, which are fundamental for a digital society, as well as consider the importance of national security. Considering the theoretical approaches in this thesis and the research results, the author proposes the following definition:

'(Estonian) Digital diplomacy aims to achieve Estonia's digital agenda and foreign policy objectives, to strengthen its position in global discussions on technological issues, while being aligned with likeminded partners and following the principles of a democratic digital society.'

Based on the research results, the author was able to answer the third research question and provides the following recommendations for shaping Estonia's digital diplomacy:

- Creating a Digital Diplomacy Strategy that would support achieving national and foreign digital policy objectives, has a holistic approach and considers different policy spheres.
- Include in the strategy the principles that should be followed for using technologies, i.e. good governance and democratic values and principles.
- Training diplomats and increasing their capabilities to deal with digital matters.
- Hiring experts outside the foreign service system to bridge knowledge and expertise gaps. Also, a way for Estonia to be a frontrunner and showing the lead by being bold, diverse, open and inclusive.
- Conducting an exercise or survey among ministries on what is digital diplomacy and how to define it for Estonia.
- Choosing focus areas based on where Estonia can be visible but also can make an impact, taking into account available resources and its strengths. Including, but not limited to: cybersecurity, data governance, use of artificial intelligence for public services, digital identity, cross-border data exchange and interoperability, e-Government ecosystem and digital transformation, human rights online, promoting core principles of a digital society.
- Prioritising cooperation and using the European Union's approach and unity when lacking resources. Therefore, involvement in the OECD, ITU, UN should mainly rely on the EU's joint activities.
- Better coordination mechanism between the ministries and other government institutions on digital policy priorities, especially from the foreign policy perspective. Outcomes of these discussions can act as inputs for the digital diplomacy strategy.
- The Ministry of Foreign Affairs could take the role of coordinating digital foreign policy priorities as it has a good understanding of relations between countries and due to its horizontal nature of work, is in a good position to evaluate.

- Strong and proactive cooperation with the private sector, including them more to policymaking and discussions on digital policies.
- Prioritising the involvement in the Digital Nations, European Union and Nordic-Baltic cooperation formats.
- Conducting more research on digital diplomacy, while considering the role of other stakeholders in modern diplomacy besides governments.
- Raising the awareness that 'digital' is an overarching term and not a domain itself, mainstreaming the understanding that digital diplomacy is an integral part of foreign policy.

As the results of this research showed, digital is part of almost everything and brings new issues, as well as opportunities, to modern diplomacy. Therefore, digital diplomacy is an emerging topic that needs further research. This case focused on the Estonian context, providing a definition for digital diplomacy and recommendations to policymakers forming digital diplomacy for Estonia. It is suggested to work in close collaboration with likeminded partners, on the basis of geopolitical priorities. Estonia should prioritise and increase its involvement in some organisations, also following the same approach with partnerships for digital cooperation. The author contributed to Estonia's strategy-making and filling the research gap that exists for digital diplomacy. It was done by providing a conceptual definition of digital diplomacy and concrete policy recommendations that can help Estonia with its strategy-building efforts. Moreover, this work presents a case study which can be an example for other country cases, and the proposed definition as well as the theoretical overview benefits current and future researchers working on digital diplomacy. To conclude, this research achieved its objectives and all research questions that were posed, were answered.

Despite the results achieved with this thesis, it had limitations, which could be addressed and solved in future studies. Firstly, the number of interviewees could have been more extensive. Secondly, for a better understanding of Estonia's position in the global arena, a comparison with other countries, specially with well-developed digital societies, could be conducted. Moreover, modern diplomacy is not only about relations between countries, but private sector and other stakeholders have a powerful role. It is very relevant to digital matters, where technological developments are created mainly by the private companies and the impact is global. For that reason, the author suggests incorporating the aspects of different stakeholders in future research to a greater extent, specially the role of Big Techs in geopolitics.

## 6 Conclusions and future work

It is evident that technology is evolving fast and digitalisation is perceived as a tool to enhance socio-economic development. But not only, as digital technologies impact almost every aspect of our modern life. Societies have understood the importance of digital technologies, both the risks and opportunities that come with it. Digital and technological matters have embedded to different policy spheres and due to the global nature of digital technologies, as well as to foreign policy.

The main goal of this thesis was to find what digital diplomacy represents for Estonia and propose a definition suitable for the Estonian context. In addition, to give recommendations for policymakers shaping Estonia's digital diplomacy. Estonia is a small country that has a global image as a digital frontrunner, with decades of experiences regarding digitalisation. Due to its size, high level of digitalisation and open governance, changes can be implemented relatively quick, creating more room for innovation. For a tech-savvy country with limited resources as Estonia is, strategic approach to digital diplomacy is pivotal. Based on the research, this paper introduces ideas on how to improve Estonia's digital diplomacy efforts. Moreover, a definition of digital diplomacy is proposed for the Estonian model. The author used a case study research methodology to fulfil the objectives of this thesis, while data was collected with document analyses and by conducting interviews.

This paper achieved its objectives, but also contributed to further research in this domain. Within the constraints of a master's thesis, a comprehensive view of Estonian digital diplomacy and current situation was given. It is becoming clear that digital diplomacy is an overarching definition as 'digital' is linked to almost all fields in today's information society. Still, the concept of digital diplomacy remains miscellaneous worldwide, having different ways to define it. The outcomes of this work will help to bridge this gap, moreover, the Estonian case acts as an example for other policymakers looking at digital diplomacy from their country's or organisation's perspective, and is more specifically helpful for Estonia's policymaking and strategy-building.

## References

- [1] K. Subedi, 'Globalization and Globalization Debates', Aug. 2022.
- [2] C. Suraci, S. Pizzi, F. Montori, M. Di Felice, and G. Araniti, '6G to Take the Digital Divide by Storm: Key Technologies and Trends to Bridge the Gap', *Future Internet*, vol. 14, no. 6, p. 189, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.3390/fi14060189.
- [3] J. R. Torreblanca José Ignacio, 'The geopolitics of technology: How the EU can become a global player – European Council on Foreign Relations', ECFR Policy Briefs, no. 450, May 2022, Accessed: Aug. 27, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://ecfr.eu/publication/thegeopolitics-of-technology-how-the-eu-can-become-a-global-player/
- [4] Ł. A. Król, 'Digital Foreign Policy: How Digital Tools Can Further Europe's Foreign Policy Goals', *Eur. View*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 133–144, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.1007/s12290-016-0384-8.
- [5] M. Di Giulio and G. Vecchi, 'Implementing digitalization in the public sector. Technologies, agency, and governance', *Public Policy Adm.*, pp. 1–25, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.1177/09520767211023283.
- [6] S. Gautam and L. Hens, 'COVID-19: impact by and on the environment, health and economy', *Environ. Dev. Sustain.*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 4953–4954, Aug. 2020, doi: 10.1007/s10668-020-00818-7.
- P. Sukhorolskyi, 'Russian Aggression against Ukraine: Past, Present, and Futures', J. Future Stud., vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 1–13, 2022, doi: 10.6531/JFS.202206\_26(4).0001.
- [8] European Commission, 'EU solidarity with Ukraine'. https://eu-solidarityukraine.ec.europa.eu/index\_en (accessed Sep. 05, 2022).
- [9] D. Caldara, S. Conlisk, M. Iacoviello, and M. Penn, 'The Effect of the War in Ukraine on Global Activity and Inflation', *FEDS Notes*, vol. 2022, no. 3141, May 2022, doi: 10.17016/2380-7172.3141.
- [10] K. Mojska and M. Szkarłat, New Technologies as a Factor of International Relations. Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 2016.
- [11] G. Anthes, 'Estonia: a model for e-government', *Commun. ACM*, vol. 58, no. 6, pp. 18–20, May 2015, doi: 10.1145/2754951.
- [12] M. Goede, 'E-Estonia: The e-government cases of Estonia, Singapore, and Curaçao', Arch. Bus. Res., vol. 7, no. 2, 2019, Accessed: Aug. 30, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.academia.edu/38474810/E\_Estonia\_The\_e\_government\_cases\_of\_Estonia\_S ingapore\_and\_Cura%D2%ABao
- [13] Y. Aydın, 'A Quick Comparison of E-Government Systems of Estonia and Turkey', p. 6.
- [14] Yearbook 2021/22: Towards a seamless government. e-Governance Academy, 2022.
  Accessed: Aug. 30, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://ega.ee/publication/yearbook-2021/
- [15] 'Estonian Foreign Policy Strategy 2030'. Estonian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2020. Accessed: Aug. 30, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://vm.ee/sites/default/files/Estonia\_for\_UN/Rasmus/estonian\_foreign\_policy\_strategy \_2030\_final.pdf

- [16] OECD, The Digitalisation of Science, Technology and Innovation Key Developments and Policies: Key Developments and Policies. OECD Publishing, 2020.
- [17] P. Ekman, P. Dahlin, and C. Keller, Management and Information Technology after Digital Transformation. Routledge, 2021.
- [18] 'Why Open Source?', *The Digital Public Goods Alliance*, Nov. 17, 2022. https://digitalpublicgoods.net/blog/why-open-source/ (accessed Sep. 05, 2022).
- [19] A. Mallik, Role of technology in international affairs. Pentagon Press and Institute for Defence Studies and Analyses, New Delhi, 2016. Accessed: May 09, 2022. [Online]. Available: http://14.139.53.35/jspui/bitstream/123456789/3102/1/book\_role-oftechnology-in-international-affairs\_a-mallik\_1.pdf
- [20] 'Council Conclusions on EU Digital Diplomacy', Council of the European Union, Brussels, 11406/22, Jul. 2022. Accessed: Aug. 31, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://data.consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-11406-2022-INIT/en/pdf
- [21] D. Freelon and C. Wells, 'Disinformation as Political Communication', *Polit. Commun.*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 145–156, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1080/10584609.2020.1723755.
- [22] 'International Security and Estonia 2022', Estonian Foreign Intelligence Service, Estonia, 2022. Accessed: Jul. 20, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.valisluureamet.ee/doc/raport/2022-en.pdf
- [23] B. Hughes, K. White, J. West, M. Criezis, C. Zhou, and S. Bartholomew, 'Cultural Variance in Reception and Interpretation of Social Media COVID-19 Disinformation in French-Speaking Regions', *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health*, vol. 18, no. 23, p. 12624, Nov. 2021, doi: 10.3390/ijerph182312624.
- [24] M. Gottlieb and S. Dyer, 'Information and Disinformation: Social Media in the COVID-19 Crisis', *Acad. Emerg. Med.*, vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 640–641, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1111/acem.14036.
- [25] M. Suzuki and S. Yang, 'Political economy of vaccine diplomacy: explaining varying strategies of China, India, and Russia's COVID-19 vaccine diplomacy', *Rev. Int. Polit. Econ.*, pp. 1–26, May 2022, doi: 10.1080/09692290.2022.2074514.
- [26] S.-D. D. Bachmann, D. Lee, and A. Dowse, 'COVID Information Warfare and the Future of Great Power Competition', *Fletcher Forum World Aff.*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 11–18, 2020.
- [27] 'Encoding values: Putting tech at the heart of UK foreign policy', House of Commons, London, HC 170, Aug. 2022. Accessed: Sep. 04, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/78/foreign-affairscommittee/news/171953/encoding-values-putting-tech-at-the-heart-of-uk-foreign-policy/
- [28] T. V. Novachenko, T. V. Bielska, E. A. Afonin, M. H. Lashkina, O. M. Kozhemiakina, and N. P. Diachenko, 'Use of information technology to increase economic efficiency and credibility in public administration in the context of digitization', *Int. J. Econ. Bus. Adm.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 374–382, 2020.
- [29] R. Akbarinaldi, 'Comparative case study of Estonia & Indonesia: the role of digital identity to deliver integrated public services', Jun. 2022, doi: https://doi.org/10.17613/pzm1-s712.
- [30] A. Addo and P. K. Senyo, 'Advancing E-governance for development: Digital identification and its link to socioeconomic inclusion', *Gov. Inf. Q.*, vol. 38, no. 2, p. 101568, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2021.101568.

- [31] United Nations, 'Roadmap for Digital Cooperation', Office of the Secretary-General's Envoy on Technology, May 2020. Accessed: Sep. 06, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.un.org/techenvoy/content/roadmap-digital-cooperation
- [32] S. L. de M. Mello, N. V. E. Ludolf, O. L. G. Quelhas, and M. J. Meiriño, 'Innovation in the digital era: new labor market and educational changes', *Ens. Aval. E Políticas Públicas Em Educ.*, vol. 28, no. 106, pp. 66–87, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1590/s0104-40362019002702511.
- [33] O. Arab, 'How Companies Can Relieve The Stress Of The Tech Talent Gap With Low-Code Innovation', *Forbes*, Nov. 04, 2022. Accessed: Sep. 07, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesbusinessdevelopmentcouncil/2022/04/11/howcompanies-can-relieve-the-stress-of-the-tech-talent-gap-with-low-code-innovation/
- [34] R. Hendrikse, I. Adriaans, T. J. Klinge, and R. Fernandez, 'The Big Techification of Everything', *Sci. Cult.*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 59–71, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1080/09505431.2021.1984423.
- [35] T. J. Klinge, R. Hendrikse, R. Fernandez, and I. Adriaans, 'Augmenting digital monopolies: A corporate financialization perspective on the rise of Big Tech', *Compet. Change*, p. 10245294221105572, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.1177/10245294221105573.
- [36] J. van Dijck, T. Poell, and M. de Waal, *The Platform Society: Public Values in a Connective World*. Oxford University Press, 2018. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.ee/books?hl=en&lr=&id=wLhwDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&ots =VKKB3G3sDw&sig=GCbJQVzAuTpfR29U4EnRUuWrk\_I&redir\_esc=y#v=onepage& q&f=false
- [37] K. Birch and D. T. Cochrane, 'Big Tech: Four Emerging Forms of Digital Rentiership', *Sci. Cult.*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 44–58, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1080/09505431.2021.1932794.
- [38] Fleming, Sean, 'What is digital sovereignty and why is Europe so interested in it?', World Economic Forum, Mar. 15, 2021. Accessed: Sep. 07, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/03/europe-digital-sovereignty/
- [39] O. S. Adesina, 'Foreign policy in an era of digital diplomacy', *Cogent Soc. Sci.*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 1297175, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.1080/23311886.2017.1297175.
- [40] O. Stanley, Y. Mosud, M. Y. Olumoye, and S. Ehiane, 'Information and Communication Technology (Ict) and Diplomacy: A Conceptual Overview', vol. 17, pp. 38–44, Nov. 2013.
- [41] J. W. MOSES and T. KNUTSEN, 'Inside Out: Globalization and the Reorganization of Foreign Affairs Ministries', *Coop. Confl.*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 355–380, Dec. 2001, doi: 10.1177/00108360121962506.
- [42] G. R. Berridge, *Diplomacy: Theory and Practice*. Springer Nature, 2021.
- [43] I. Manor, 'Are We There Yet: Have MFAs Realized the Potential of Digital Diplomacy?: Results from a Cross-National Comparison', *Brill Res. Perspect. Dipl. Foreign Policy*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 1–110, Mar. 2016, doi: 10.1163/24056006-12340002.
- [44] C. Bjola and M. Holmes, Digital Diplomacy: Theory and Practice. Routledge, 2015.
- [45] N. Sheludiakova, B. Mamurov, I. Maksymova, K. Slyusarenko, and I. Yegorova, 'Communicating the Foreign Policy Strategy: on Instruments and Means of Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Ukraine', SHS Web Conf., vol. 100, p. 7, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1051/shsconf/202110002005.

- [46] N. J. Cull, 'The Long Road to Public Diplomacy 2.0: The Internet in US Public Diplomacy', *Int. Stud. Rev.*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 123–139, Jan. 2013, doi: 10.1111/misr.12026.
- [47] K. J. Ayhan, 'The Boundaries of Public Diplomacy and Nonstate Actors: A Taxonomy of Perspectives', *Int. Stud. Perspect.*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 63–83, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.1093/isp/eky010.
- [48] European Union External Action, 'Public Diplomacy'. https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/public-diplomacy\_en (accessed Sep. 10, 2022).
- [49] Tiana Latici, 'Understanding the EU's approach to cyber diplomacy and cyber defence'. European Parliament, May 2020. Accessed: Aug. 31, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2020/651937/EPRS\_BRI(2020)65 1937\_EN.pdf
- [50] A. Kasper, A.-M. Osula, and A. Molnár, 'EU cybersecurity and cyber diplomacy', *IDP Rev. Internet Derecho Política*, no. 34, pp. 1–15, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.7238/idp.v0i34.387469.
- [51] D. Danca, 'Cyber Diplomacy A New Component of Foreign Policy', J. Law Adm. Sci., vol. 3, pp. 91–97, 2015.
- [52] T. Feakin and J. Weaver, 'Cyber diplomacy: An Australian perspective', in *Routledge Handbook of International Cybersecurity*, Routledge, 2020.
- [53] J. Kurbalija, 'Different prefixes, same meaning: cyber, digital, net, online, virtual, e--Diplo', Apr. 17, 2015. https://www.diplomacy.edu/blog/different-prefixes-same-meaningcyber-digital-net-online-virtual-e/ (accessed Aug. 31, 2022).
- [54] J. Kurbalija and K. Höne, '2021: The emergence of digital foreign policy', DiploFoundation & Geneva Internet Platform, Mar. 2021. Accessed: Oct. 09, 2022.
   [Online]. Available: https://www.diplomacy.edu/blog/2021-emergence-digital-foreign-policy/
- [55] C. Klynge, M. Ekman, and N. J. Waedegaard, 'Diplomacy in the Digital Age: Lessons from Denmark's TechPlomacy Initiative', *Hague J. Dipl.*, vol. 15, no. 1–2, pp. 185–195, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1163/1871191X-15101094.
- [56] Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark, 'STRATEGY FOR DENMARK'S TECH DIPLOMACY 2021-2023'. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark, 2021.
- [57] E. V. Garcia, 'What is Tech Diplomacy? A Very Short Definition | Beyond the Horizon ISSG', Jun. 14, 2022. https://behorizon.org/what-is-tech-diplomacy-a-very-shortdefinition/(accessed Oct. 22, 2022).
- [58] Pavlina Ittelson, 'Techplomacy in the US California Bay Area', *Diplo*, Apr. 30, 2018. https://www.diplomacy.edu/blog/techplomacy-us-california-bay-area/ (accessed Oct. 22, 2022).
- [59] D. H. Grossoehme, 'Overview of Qualitative Research', *J. Health Care Chaplain.*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 109–122, Jul. 2014, doi: 10.1080/08854726.2014.925660.
- [60] J. L. Green, J. L. Green, G. Camilli, P. B. Elmore, and P. B. Elmore, *Handbook of Complementary Methods in Education Research*. Routledge, 2012.
- [61] R. K. Yin, 'Case Study Research: Design and Methods 3rd Edition', Appl. Soc. Res. METHODS Ser., vol. 5, p. 25, 2002.
- [62] B. Yazan, 'Three Approaches to Case Study Methods in Education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake', *Qual. Rep.*, Feb. 2015, doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2102.

- [63] Shreya Mishra, 'Dissecting the Case Study Research: Stake and Merriam Approaches', in *Case Method for Digital Natives: Teaching and Research*, 1st ed., India: Bloomsbury, 2021, pp. 265–293. Accessed: Sep. 04, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/dissecting-case-study-research-stake-merriamapproaches-ajoy-k-dey
- [64] A. Castleberry and A. Nolen, 'Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds?', *Curr. Pharm. Teach. Learn.*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 807–815, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019.
- [65] V. Braun and V. Clarke, 'Using thematic analysis in psychology', *Qual. Res. Psychol.*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 77–101, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp0630a.
- [66] C. Obermayr, 'Introduction to Surakarta (Solo)', in *Sustainable City Management*, Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2017, pp. 111–133. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-49418-0\_6.
- [67] A. Galletta, Mastering the Semi-Structured Interview and Beyond: From Research Design to Analysis and Publication. NYU Press, 2013.
- [68] J. C. Lapadat, 'Problematizing transcription: Purpose, paradigm and quality', Int. J. Soc. Res. Methodol., vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 203–219, Jan. 2000, doi: 10.1080/13645570050083698.
- [69] 'Estonia's Digital Agenda 2030'. Estonian Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications, 2021.
- [70] 'Eesti Euroopa Liidu poliitika', *Riigikantselei*, Jan. 14, 2022. https://riigikantselei.ee/el-poliitika-julgeolek-ja-riigikaitse/eesti-euroopa-liidu-poliitika/el-poliitika (accessed Oct. 16, 2022).
- [71] 'Eastern Partnership | EEAS Website'. https://www.eeas.europa.eu/eeas/easternpartnership\_en (accessed Sep. 19, 2022).

# Appendix 1 – Non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation thesis<sup>1</sup>

#### I, Karin Voodla

- 1. Grant Tallinn University of Technology free licence (non-exclusive licence) for my thesis Defining Digital Diplomacy for Estonia, supervised by Eric Blake Jackson
  - 1.1. to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;
  - 1.2. to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.
- 2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the nonexclusive licence.
- 3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

16.12.2022

<sup>1</sup> The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive licence, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period.

## **Appendix 2 – Interview Questions**

- 1. How do you see the role of Estonian diplomats in ensuring Estonia's image and global position as a digital frontrunner?
- 2. How do you evaluate the current impact of state strategies/development plans to policymaking? Please explain your assessment.
- 3. Based on your previous answer and work experience so far, how do you evaluate Estonia's policymaking?
- 4. In your opinion, what are the key topics/policy areas that Estonia as a country should be concentrating on to strengthen its position as an esteemed digital country?
- 5. Based on the need to develop an Estonian digital diplomacy strategy, what do you think should be the international organisations, where Estonia should be more strongly represented?
  - a. Can you name specific working groups or initiatives, that Estonia should be part of?
- 6. In your opinion, which policy spheres are most fundamental if Estonia was to create a national digital diplomacy strategy?
- 7. Which countries (or regions) do you see as best to partner with for digital cooperation? Why?
- 8. Which countries (or regions) do you see as competitors (or even threat) to Estonia that can overshadow Estonia's success and image as a digital country? Why?
- 9. Based on your knowledge, how would you define 'digital diplomacy' for Estonia?
- 10. Based on your knowledge and understanding, how would you explain the difference between cyber diplomacy and digital diplomacy?

#### Transcripts of conducted interviews are available based on request.